THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 04 2020

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-08-02424  
Appellate Case No. 2020-000415

Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC.....Appellant,

v.

MI Windows and Doors, Inc.; ECC Contracting, LLC; Hurley Services, LLC; and  
Charleston Exteriors, LLC.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephen P. Hughes, Esquire  
Bar No.: 002805  
Mary Bass Lohr, Esquire  
Bar No.: 16927  
Catherine L. Floeder, Esquire  
Bar No: 103741  
William H. Cox, III, Esquire  
Bar No.: 101991  
Howell, Gibson & Hughes, P.A.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Trial Court inappropriately grant summary judgment to Respondents despite the presence of genuine issues of material fact?
- II. Did the Trial Court misunderstand and mischaracterize the relief requested by Appellant as seeking indemnification for its own negligence rather than for the negligence of its subcontractors?
- III. Because of its misunderstanding of the relief requested, did the Trial Court inappropriately apply a heightened standard of contract construction to the indemnification language in Appellant's contract?
- IV. Did the Trial Court incorrectly hold that the statute of limitations on Appellant's indemnity claims began to run before either a final judgment had been entered against Appellant or a payment had been made by appellant?
- V. Did the Trial Court lack jurisdiction to consider the substantive issues raised by Respondents' motions for summary judgment while the underlying *Damico* case was on appeal?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### ***A. The Damico Litigation***

The issues in the instant action arise from services provided by the Respondents in connection with original construction of multiple single-family residences comprising a development known as The Abbey at Spring Grove, in Berkeley County, South Carolina. The Abbey at Spring Grove residences are the subject of a separate, previously filed lawsuit, captioned Patricia Damico et al v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC et al, civil action number 2014-CP-08-02424, (the "underlying action" or the "Damico Litigation"). In said underlying action, the plaintiff-owners initially asserted claims alleging deficiencies in design, development, and/or construction against, among others, the alleged developer/general contractor, Lennar Carolinas LLC. Lennar, by its answer and third party complaint, asserted claims against various subcontractors and suppliers involved in original construction, including Appellant Builders FirstSource, who was alleged to have supplied and installed windows and exterior doors.

Builders FirstSource, as a third party defendant in the underlying action, filed its initial answer on December 21, 2015. Thereafter, it moved to amend its pleadings, in order to assert fourth party claims against its own window supplier, MI Windows and Doors, and against its then-known installation subcontractors. Before the referenced motion to amend could be heard, the Trial Court considered, and denied, the motion of the general contractor, Lennar, to compel arbitration. The Court's orders denying that motion and Lennar's motion to

reconsider were appealed to the S.C. Court of Appeals, thus effecting a stay of the proceedings before the Trial Court in the underlying action. While the Court of Appeals issued its order compelling arbitration between Lennar and the Plaintiffs on June 10, 2020, at all times relevant to this case, the underlying Damico Litigation was stayed on appeal.

It bears note that no final judgment or order has been issued against Builders FirstSource, or against any other party, in the underlying action.

***B. The Current Litigation***

While the underlying action was stayed on appeal, in order to preserve its still unasserted claims against its installers, Appellant Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC, filed the instant action on December 21, 2018, asserting, as direct claims against the designated defendants, those claims which it had previously sought to assert as fourth party claims in the underlying action, i. e., (a) contractual indemnity, (b) equitable indemnity, (c) breach of express and implied warranties, (d) breach of contract, (e) negligence, and (f) contribution, respectively.

Respondents ECC and Charleston Exteriors, as subcontractors to Builders FirstSource, installed windows and doors in connection with the original construction of some of the subject residences. MI Windows and Doors was dismissed from this suit on July 16, 2019 without prejudice by a stipulation between the parties.

Builders FirstSource subsequently filed a motion to stay the instant proceedings, and to consolidate this litigation with the underlying Damico

Litigation. Respondents ECC Contracting, LLC, and Charleston Exteriors, LLC, filed motions for summary judgment as to Builders FirstSource's claims. Arguments on the motion were heard before the court on October 18, 2019.

On December 6, 2019, the Court issued its order granting Respondents' motions for summary judgment. On December 16, 2019, the Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration. Judge Newman requested oral arguments on the motion for reconsideration, which were heard before the Court on January 16, 2020. On February 3, 2020, the Court issued an "Amended Order," again granting Respondents' motions for summary judgment; this order, however, did not address or rule on Appellant's December 16, 2019 motion for reconsideration. Therefore, Appellant filed a second motion for reconsideration on February 13, 2020, asking that the Court explicitly rule on the December 16, 2019 motion for reconsideration. The deadline to file a notice of intent to appeal from the Trial Court's February 3rd amended order was March 4, 2020; thus, Appellant was forced to file a notice of intent to appeal before the Trial Court ruled on its February 13 motion for reconsideration. On March 5, the Trial Court entered its last order to date, explicitly denying the Appellant's motion for reconsideration. Appellant timely filed an amended notice of intent to appeal on March 17, 2020, challenging both the February 3rd Amended Order and the March 5th denial of the motion for reconsideration.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the Trial Court under Rule 56(c),

SCRCP, which is that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Pittman v. Grand Strand Entm't, Inc., 363 S.C. 531, 611 S.E.2d 922 (2005); B & B Liquors, Inc. v. O'Neil, 361 S.C. 267, 603 S.E.2d 629 (Ct.App.2004). In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Medical Univ. of South Carolina v. Arnaud, 360 S.C. 615, 602 S.E.2d 747 (2004); Rife v. Hitachi Constr. Mach. Co., Ltd., 363 S.C. 209, 609 S.E.2d 565 (Ct.App.2005). Any triable issues must go to the jury. Mulherin-Howell v. Cobb, 362 S.C. 588, 608 S.E.2d 587 (Ct.App.2005).

On an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, "the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below." Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005); see also Schmidt v. Courtney, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct.App.2003) (stating that all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party). Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. Gadson v. Hembree, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533 (2005); Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc., 362 S.C. 529, 608 S.E.2d 440 (Ct.App.2004). Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation

Comm'n, 362 S.C. 1, 605 S.E.2d 744 (Ct.App.2004). However, when plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted. Ellis v. Davidson, 358 S.C. 509, 595 S.E.2d 817 (Ct.App.2004).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment to Respondents Despite the Presence of Genuine Issues of Material Fact.**

Summary judgment is only appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. SCRPC 56. In granting summary judgment on Appellant's contractual indemnity claim, the Trial Court has made implicit determinations of fact regarding the negligence of the various parties without any evidentiary support in the record.

Appellant is seeking recovery in contractual indemnity from its subcontractors. In South Carolina, the ability to recover damages from one's subcontractor depends on the source of the negligent conduct that caused the damage. As discussed in greater detail below, if a contractor seeks to have a subcontractor indemnify the contractor for the contractor's own negligence, our courts have held the contractor to an elevated burden – the contractor must show that the contractual language granting that right was “clear and unequivocal.” See Concord & Cumberland Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, 424 S.C. 639, 649, 819 S.E.2d 166, 172 (Ct. App. 2018), reh'g denied (Oct. 18, 2018). Whether or not the contract language rises to the level necessary to grant that right has been decided by Courts as a matter of law. See id.

However, there is a second potential source of negligence occasioning the sought-after damages. In South Carolina, a contractor may seek indemnification from its subcontractor for damages resulting from that subcontractor's negligence, whether that subcontractor was the sole source of negligence or whether that subcontractor was concurrently negligent with the general contractor (in the latter scenario, however, recovery would be limited to the proportional share of negligence of the subcontractor). Id. at 645. Such contractual indemnification is not subject to a heightened standard, and the determination – or allocation – of negligence is an issue of fact for the jury.

The Court ruled on an issue of law in determining that Appellant's contract did not allow Appellant to recover indemnification from its Respondent Subcontractors for Appellant's own negligence. However, in dismissing the *entire* contractual indemnity claim, the Trial Court implicitly found that Appellant was likewise unable to recover from its Respondent Subcontractors for the Subcontractors' own negligence. Because this second scenario is not subject to the heightened legal standard, there was no basis for the Court to determine, as a matter of law, that the claim could not survive. And because the issue of whether the subcontractors were in fact negligent is both contested and most properly left for the jury, there was no basis for the Court to determine that the claim could not survive due to a lack of genuine issue of material fact.

The Court's implicit factual determination that the subcontractors were not negligent has not been established by any evidence. No discovery has been done in this case, and very limited discovery has been done in the underlying

Damico litigation. Respondents did not offer any arguments or evidence regarding their negligence or lack thereof. Furthermore, pursuant to SCRCP 56, any issue of fact regarding negligence should have been construed in favor of Appellant, precluding summary judgment on its contractual indemnity claim inasmuch as Appellant seeks indemnification for damages arising out of its subcontractors' negligence.

**II. The Trial Court's Ruling is Premised Upon its Mistaken Finding that Appellant is Seeking to be Indemnified for its Own Negligence.**

Appellant is seeking indemnification from the Respondent subcontractors only to the extent that the Respondent subcontractors were negligent (whether solely or concurrently). However, rather than address this specific relief requested, the Trial Court's order repeatedly emphasizes that the contracts between Appellant and Respondents do not meet the heightened standard required to provide Appellant with indemnity rights as to Respondents for *Appellant's own negligence*. The cases the Court quotes in section "C" of its analysis all speak of the indemnitee's "own negligence" or "own negligent acts." Likewise, the Trial Court's holding states that:

As South Carolina precedent requires that the party seeking to be indemnified bear the burden of proving that the indemnity language be clear and unequivocal ***when seeking to be indemnified for its own negligence***, the Court rules that the specific language from the Master Subcontractor Agreement is confusing, conflicting, and neither unclear [sic] or unequivocal. The Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment as to the contractual indemnity claims is hereby granted.

(R. p. 17) (emphasis added). This language shows that the Trial Court believed that Appellant was seeking indemnification for its own negligence, and that such

belief was a foundational part of its ruling. However, *Appellant is not seeking indemnification for its own negligence.*

Appellant repeatedly attempted to draw the Court's attention to the fact that it was not seeking indemnification for its own negligence but was only seeking indemnification for the negligence of its subcontractor. In its Complaint, Appellant asserted that it is "entitled to damages for any negligence, as aforesaid, on the part of [subcontractor] . . ." **(R. p. 137, lines 6-8)**. Three times during oral arguments on the motion for summary judgment, counsel for Appellant advised the Court that in this case Appellant is asking that its subcontractors indemnify Appellant *for their negligence*. **(R. pp. 352, 356-57, 362-63)**. In Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's December 6, 2019 Order, Appellant pointed out that while Appellant may not be able to maintain indemnity claims for its own negligence, Appellant was entitled to pursue its contractual indemnity claim against Respondents based upon the Respondents' own negligence. **(R. pp. 280-281)**. And counsel for Appellant reiterated that position in oral arguments on the motion for reconsideration. **(R. pp. 383-84)**.

Again, in Appellant's filed Memorandum in Opposition to the Proposed Amended Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, Appellant represented to the Court that "BFS is not seeking to have Defendants indemnify BFS for BFS's own negligence. BFS is seeking to have Defendants indemnify BFS for Defendants' own negligence." **(R. p. 290)** (emphasis in original). Finally, that same Memorandum pointed out to the Court that pursuant to the contract at

issue, Appellant was entitled to seek indemnification for losses arising out of property damage:

ONLY TO THE EXTENT CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY ANY NEGLIGENT ACT OR OMISSION OF THE SUBCONTRACTOR OR ANYONE DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY EMPLOYED BY THE SUBCONTRACTOR OR ANYONE FOR WHOSE ACTS THE SUBCONTRACTOR MAY BE LIABLE.

(R. p. 291).

Despite all of these representations that Appellant was properly seeking indemnification for the subcontractors' negligence, and not for its own, the Court, without any explanation, ignored Appellant and granted summary judgment as to the entire contractual indemnity claim on the basis that Appellant was seeking to be indemnified for its own negligence. The problem is that the Court's analysis should not have ended there. Rather, as in Concord and Cumberland, discussed below, the Trial Court should have next considered the indemnity claims that were based on the *subcontractor's* own negligence, and should have allowed such contractual indemnity claims against the subcontractor for the subcontractor's own negligence to survive summary judgment.

**III. The Trial Court Inappropriately Applied the Heightened Standard of "Clear and Unequivocal" Articulated in Concord and Cumberland to the Relevant Indemnification Language in Appellant's Contract.**

Because the Trial Court mistakenly interpreted Appellant's claims as seeking indemnity for Appellant's own negligence, it erroneously applied the heightened standard of "clear and unequivocal" as articulated in Concord and Cumberland to the relevant contractual indemnity provisions in Appellant's contracts.

A. Concord and Cumberland

An understanding of the 2018 Court of Appeals decision in Concord and Cumberland is essential to the issues before this Court. See Concord & Cumberland Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, 424 S.C. 639, 649, 819 S.E.2d 166, 172 (Ct. App. 2018), reh'g denied (Oct. 18, 2018). In that case, Superior was a general contractor who hired Muhler as its subcontractor. When Superior was sued by the Concord and Cumberland Horizontal Property Regime, it looked to Muhler for indemnification pursuant to their contract. The contract provided, in relevant part, that:

To the fullest extent permitted by law, **the Subcontractor shall indemnify and hold harmless** the Owner, the Architect, **the Contractor** (including its affiliates, parents and subsidiaries) and other contractors and subcontractors and all of their agents and employees from and against all claims, damages, loss and expenses, including but not limited to attorney's fees, **arising out of or resulting from the performance of the Subcontractor's Work provided that**

- (a) any such claim, damage, loss, or expense is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Subcontractor's Work itself) including the loss of use resulting there from, **to the extent caused or alleged to be caused in whole or in any part by any negligent act or omission of the Subcontractor** or anyone directly or indirectly employed by the Subcontractor or anyone for whose acts the Subcontractor may be liable, **regardless of whether it is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder.**

Id. at 643-44 (emphasis added). Superior claimed that these provisions required Muhler to indemnify Superior and that Superior's right to indemnity was not lessened by Superior's concurrent negligence. Id. at 645. Muhler countered that the contract did not require them to indemnify Superior for Superior's wrongdoing. Id.

The Trial Court found, and the Court of Appeals agreed, that in order for Superior to prevail on a claim seeking indemnity *for its own negligence*, it would need to show that the contract language granting that right met the heightened standard of being clear and unequivocal: *Id.* at 649. The Court of Appeals noted that this heightened standard applied regardless of whether Superior was seeking indemnification for its own sole negligence or for its own concurrent negligence. *Id.* Because the Court found that the language did not meet the heightened standard, it held that the contract did not require Muhler to indemnify Superior for Superior's own negligence, and instead "*limited indemnification to damages resulting from the work Muhler performed.*" *Id.* at 645. This merits repeating: Superior could not collect indemnification from Muhler for damages arising out of Superior's own negligence; however, Superior *could* collect indemnification from Muhler for damages arising out of Muhler's own negligence – regardless of whether Muhler's negligence was sole or concurrent.

*B. Misapplication to Claims at Issue*

The parties in this case have agreed that the contractual language at issue is nearly identical to that in Concord and Cumberland. The only difference is that instead of seeking indemnity for Appellant's own negligence, Appellant has limited the relief sought to the negligence of its subcontractors. This is the exact relief allowed under Concord and Cumberland, which "limited indemnification to damages resulting from the work [the subcontractor] performed." *Id.* at 645. Therefore, the Trial Court should not have granted summary judgment on Appellant's contractual indemnification claim.

But the Trial Court did grant summary judgment, and it did so by applying an erroneous, heightened standard of contract construction to Appellant's contracts. This Court in Concord and Cumberland acknowledged that "typically, courts will construe an indemnification contract in accordance with the rules of the construction of contracts generally," and it is only "when an indemnity clause purports to relieve an indemnitee from the consequences of its own negligence [that] our case law requires strict construction of the clause." Concord & Cumberland, 424 S.C. at 647 (internal quotations omitted). Because Appellant, as the Indemnitee, is not and has not been seeking indemnification from the consequences of its own negligence, but only that of its subcontractors, it was an error for the Court to apply the heightened standard of clear and unequivocal outlined in Concord and Cumberland. Instead, the Court should have interpreted the contract "in accordance with the rules of the construction of contracts generally." The parties contracted for a series of rights, and one such right was that Appellant was entitled to seek indemnification for losses arising out of property damage to the extent caused by the negligence of the subcontractor. The Trial Court should not have dismissed this right on summary judgment.

C. Appellant's Contract

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