RECEIVED

Jan 20 2021

SC Court of Appeals

**IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000415

Circuit Court Case No. 2018-CP-08-02547

Builders FirstSource -Southeast Group, LLC,.....**Appellant,**

v.

MI Windows and Doors, Inc.; ECC Contracting, LLC; Hurley Services, LLC; and
Charleston Exteriors, LLC,..... **Defendants.**

OF WHICH, ECC Contracting, LLC; and Charleston Exteriors, LLC, are....**Respondents**

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, ECC CONTRACTING, LLC

RICHARDSON PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A.

James H. Elliott, Jr. (SC Bar. No 13620)

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT'S SUBCONTRACTS VIOLATE THE ANTI-INDEMNITY STATUTE, S.C. CODE ANN § 32-2-10:

At the heart of BFS's appeal is the contention that it can re-write its contract and its pleadings. The relevant indemnity provision, which is provided in Section 5 of the contract between BFS and ECC, states (all caps omitted for ease of reading):

To the fullest extent permitted by Law, the subcontractor shall indemnify, defendant and hold harmless the contractor, the owner, and all of their officers, directors, agents, and employees from and **against any and all claims**, suits, losses, causes of action, damages, liabilities, fines, penalties, and expenses of any kind whatsoever, including, but not limited to, arbitration or court costs and attorney's fees (such legal expenses to include costs incurred in establishing the indemnification and other rights agreed to in this paragraph) arising out of or resulting from bodily injury or death of any person, or property damage, including loss of use of property, arising or alleged to arise out of or in any way related to this agreement or the subcontractor's performance of the work or other activities of the subcontractor, **but only to the extent caused in whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of the subcontractor** or anyone for whose acts the subcontractor may be liable. The Contractor's insurance requirements are separate and distinct from the requirement of indemnification hereunder.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Subcontractor shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless, the contractor, the Owner, and all of their officers, directors, agents, and employees (the "indemnitees"), from and against any and all claims, damages, losses, and expenses, including, but not limited to, Attorney's Fees (such legal expenses to include costs incurred in establishing the indemnification and other rights agreed to in this paragraph) **arising out of or resulting from bodily injury to, or sickness, disease or death** of, the subcontractor, any agent, employee, or representative of the subcontractor, or any of its subcontractors, **regardless of whether such claim, damage, loss, or expense is caused or is alleged to be caused in whole or in party, by the negligence of any of the Indemnitees**, it being the expressed intent of the contractor and the subcontractor that in such event the subcontractor is to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Indemnitees from the consequences of their own negligence, whether it is or is alleged to be the sole or concurrent cause of the bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death of the subcontractor, subcontractor's agent, employee, or representative, or the agent, employee, or representative of any of its subcontractors, the indemnification obligations under this paragraph shall not be limited by any

limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Subcontractor under Workers Compensation acts, Disability Benefits Acts, or other employee Benefit acts, the subcontractor shall procure liability insurance covering its obligations under this Section 5.

The duty to defend under this Section 5 is independent and separate from the Duty to indemnify, and **the duty to defend exists regardless of any ultimate liability or negligence of the contractor, the owner, or any of their officers, directors, agents and employees**. The duty to defend arises immediately upon presentation of a claim by any party indemnified hereunder and written notice of such claim being provided to subcontractor. **Subcontractor's obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless under this Section 5 will survive the expiration or earlier termination of this agreement until it is finally determined by a Court of competent jurisdiction or arbitration panel that a claim against the contractor, the owner, and any of their officers, directors, agents, and employees for the matter indemnified hereunder is fully and finally barred by the applicable statute of limitations.**

The Defense and indemnification obligations under this agreement are not intended to and shall not require the subcontractor or others to indemnify or hold harmless a Registered Architect, Licensed Engineer, or an agent, Servant, or Employee of a Registered Architect or licensed Engineer from Liability for damage that is (1) caused by or results from: (a) defects in Plans, Designs, or Specifications prepared, approved, or used by the Architect or Engineer; or (b) the Negligence of the Architect or Engineer in the Rendition or conduct of Professional duties called for or arising out of the construction contract and the plans, designs, or specifications that are a part of the construction contract, and (2) arises from personal injury or death, property injury, or any other expense that arises from personal injury, death, or property injury.

2008 Contract between BFS and ECC §5 INDEMNITY (**R. pp. 218-219**) (*emphasis added*, all caps in the original).

There is nothing in South Carolina law that separates a subcontractor's duty to defend from its duty to indemnify its upstream contractor in the context of a contractual indemnification agreement. Indeed, the Anti-Indemnity Statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 32-2-10 speaks solely of "damages" while limiting the ability of the Indemnitor to indemnify the Indemnitee. The Anti-Indemnity statute bars indemnity agreements wherein the

Indemnitee seeks to be indemnified from “...damages arising out of bodily injury or property damage...” proximately caused by the indemnitee’s soles negligence. SC Code Ann. §32-2-10. Further, BFS claims its attorney’s costs and fees as damages in its complaint. BFS’s Summons and Complaint ¶ 34 (**R. p. 137, lines 3-16**). BFS cannot argue that its claims for contractual indemnity are for those sums that are solely attributable to the negligence of ECC.

Section 5 explicitly calls for ECC to pay BFS’s attorney’s fees “regardless of any ultimate liability or negligence of the contractor, the owner, or any of their officers, directors, agents and employees.” 2008 Contract between BFS and ECC §5 INDEMNITY (**R. pp. 218-219**) (*emphasis added*, all caps in the original). This is an explicit violation of SC Code Ann. §32-2-10 as it requires ECC to indemnify BFS for BFS’s sole negligence. The fact that it limits the claimed damages to attorney’s fees, as opposed to a judgment cost, is immaterial. Additionally, the middle paragraph calls for the Subcontractors to “indemnify, defend, and hold harmless” BFS “...regardless of whether such claim, damage, loss, or expense is caused or is alleged to be caused in whole or in party, by the negligence of any of the Indemnitees.” This provision also obviously and explicitly violates SC Code Ann. §32-2-10.

Respondents and the court touched on but did not explicitly make this point in the arguments and rulings below. However, Respondents raise the matter now as an alternative sustaining ground for the lower court’s decision. *Brunson v. Long*, No. 2005-UP-450, 2005 WL 7084268, at *3 (S.C. Ct. App. July 15, 2005) *citing I’On L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000) (“The trial court did not consider this

particular issue, but because the matter is raised as an additional or alternative sustaining ground, we may consider") (emphasis added).

As BFS should well know, and as this Court rightly ruled, indemnification provisions calling for the Indemnitor to indemnify the Indemnitee "for damages caused by its [the Indemnitee's] negligence or the negligence of its subcontractors" are void as against public policy. *D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Builders FirstSource-Se. Grp., LLC*, 422 S.C. 144, 152 (Ct. App. 2018). This Court went on to hold that "[A]n illegal contract is unenforceable." *Id.* (citing *Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd.*, 351 S.C. 56, 64, 566 S.E.2d 863, 866-867 (Ct. App. 2002)). In *D.R. Horton*, this Court held that the indemnification agreement "purports to require BFS to indemnify D.R. Horton for its own negligence in violation of section 32-2-10" and went on to conclude that "[b]ecause the agreement violates the statute, we cannot require BFS to pay for damages caused by D.R. Horton." *Id.* This case is no different.

Because the indemnity provisions in Section 5 of the contracts between BFS and ECC require ECC to indemnify BFS for BFS's sole negligence, BFS's contracts are illegal, and thus unenforceable. Therefore, Respondents respectfully assert that no further inquiry is necessary with regard to the failure of BFS's contractual indemnity claims.

II. ADDRESSING APPELLANT'S ARGUMENTS I, II, AND III:

Sections I, II, and III of BFS's arguments all focus on the lower court's dismissal of the contractual indemnity claim. At the heart of all three argument subsections, is the contention that BFS is seeking to be indemnified only for the sole negligence of its subcontractors.³ BFS asserts that the trial court erred by dismissing the "entire contractual indemnity claim" and that such was an error of law contending that the question of whether

³ BFS also refers to its Subcontractors "own negligence" and "own sole negligence"

or not the liability of BFS was the result of the sole negligence of Respondents is a genuine issue of material fact precluding grant of summary judgment on their claims for “full contractual and common law indemnification...entitling BFS to recover from ECC Contracting, LLC, Charleston Exteriors, LLC and Hurley Services, LLC its attorney’s fees, costs, and other expenses incurred in defending the underlying action, and further entitling BFS to recover from the ECC⁴ any sums for which BFS may be held liable to the Plaintiffs, to Lennar Carolinas, LLC, and/or to others in such action.” BFS’s Complaint ¶ 34 (**R. p. 137, lines 3-16**). BFS’s position is unsupported by its contracts, its pleadings, South Carolina case law, the lower court’s order, and the relief it requests as is set forth below.

A. APPELLANT’S CONTRACT DOES NOT SUPPORT THEIR ARGUMENTS

There are two ‘master agreements’ between BFS and ECC, one from 2008 another from 2015. Given the dates of the work, the 2008 contract should govern. However, it is irrelevant because the relevant indemnity provision is identical in both contracts. There are multiple paragraphs in Section 5 INDEMNITY of the contract stated in full above, but one relates to property damage. That provision states:

To the fullest extent permitted by Law, the subcontractor shall indemnify, defendant and hold harmless the contractor, the owner, and all of their officers, directors, agents, and employees from and **against any and all claims**, suits, losses, causes of action, damages, liabilities, fines, penalties, and expenses of any kind whatsoever, including, but not limited to, arbitration or court costs and attorney’s fees (such legal expenses to include costs incurred in establishing the indemnification and other rights agreed to in this paragraph) arising out of or resulting from bodily injury or death of any person, or property damage, including loss of use of property, arising or alleged to arise out of or in any way related to this agreement or the subcontractor’s performance of the work or other activities of the subcontractor, **but only to the extent caused in whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of the subcontractor** or anyone for whose acts

⁴ This is not a typo. For reasons unknown, BFS seeks indemnity for all judgement/settlement costs from ECC alone.

the subcontractor may be liable. The Contractor's insurance requirements are separate and distinct from the requirement of indemnification hereunder.

2008 Contract between BFS and ECC §5 ¶1 INDEMNITY (R. p. 218, lines 1-21) (*emphasis added*, all caps in the original).

This language is based on the AIA form indemnification language and the key phrase for ECC's arguments at the circuit court level was "but only to the extent caused in whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of the subcontractor." The South Carolina Court of Appeals issued an opinion in *Concord & Cumberland Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC*, 424 S.C. 639, 649, 819 S.E.2d 166, 176 (Ct. App. 2018), *reh'g denied* (Oct. 18, 2018), that specifically recognized that this contract language fails as a matter of law because it does not meet the heightened standard of interpretation for contracts seeking to relieve the indemnitee of the consequences of its own liability.

However, BFS, contending that it can rewrite the contract and its pleadings to seek merely indemnification for the sole negligence of ECC, would have the inquiry end here without regard to the remainder of this Section 5 of the contract. The third paragraph of Section 5 states (all caps omitted for ease of reading):

The duty to defend under this Section 5 is independent and separate from the Duty to indemnify, and **the duty to defend exists regardless of any ultimate liability or negligence of the contractor, the owner, or any of their officers, directors, agents and employees.** The duty to defend arises immediately upon presentation of a claim by any party indemnified hereunder and written notice of such claim being provided to subcontractor. **Subcontractor's obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless under this Section 5 will survive the expiration or earlier termination of this agreement until it is finally determined by a Court of competent jurisdiction or arbitration panel that a claim against the contractor, the owner, and any of their officers, directors, agents, and employees for the matter indemnified hereunder is fully and finally barred by the applicable statute of limitations.**

2008 Contract between BFS and ECC §5 ¶3 INDEMNITY (R. p. 219, lines 7-20) (*emphasis added*, all caps in the original).

Again, there is no legal basis for separating a subcontractor's duty to defend from its duty to indemnify its upstream contractor in the context of a contractual indemnification agreement, and BFS claims its attorney's costs and fees as damages in its complaint. BFS cannot argue that its claims for contractual indemnity are for those sums that are solely attributable to the negligence of ECC when its contractual indemnity provisions clearly calls for ECC for indemnify BFS for 100% of its attorney's costs and fees regardless of who is found to be at fault, and its pleadings seek to recover everything from ECC. "It is not the function of the court to rewrite contracts for parties." *Lewis v. Premium Inv. Corp.*, 351 S.C. 167, 171, 568 S.E.2d 361, 363 (2002)(*citation omitted*).

B. APPELLANT IS BOUND BY THE ALLEGATIONS OF ITS OPERATIVE PLEADING.

BFS claims its attorney's costs and fees as damages in its operative complaint. "It is well settled that parties are judicially bound by their pleadings unless withdrawn, altered or stricken by amendment or otherwise." *Postal v. Mann*, 308 S.C. 385, 387, 418 S.E.2d 322, 323 (Ct. App. 1992) (*citing Elrod v. All*, 243 S.C. 425, 134 S.E.2d 410 (1964)). "The allegations, statements, or admissions contained in a pleading are conclusive as against the pleader and a party cannot subsequently take a position contradictory of, or inconsistent with, his pleadings and the facts which are admitted by the pleadings are taken as true against the pleader for the purpose of the action." *Id.* BFS seeks "full contractual indemnity" for attorney's costs and fees from ECC, Hurley, and Charleston Exteriors as well as "full contractual indemnity" from ECC, solely, for any and all sums it is required to pay in settlement or judgment. BFS's Complaint. ¶34 (**R. p. 137, lines 3-16**). The only way that BFS can achieve such a result is for the Subcontractors to indemnify BFS for its concurrent negligence (assuming BFS was not solely negligent). This is particularly true

with regard to the desire to seek indemnification for all funds spent to settle or satisfy a judgment from ECC alone.

C. APPELLANT MISCONSTRUES THE LOWER COURT’S RULING.

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